### **RECEIVED**

State of Wisconsin 05-20-2015

# Court of Appendication of Appendication

District IV

Appeal Nos. 2015AP122 CR & 2015AP123 CR

STATE of WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ALINA CAMINITI and MATTHEW CAMINITI,

Defendants-Appellants.

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS

Appeal from the Judgments of Conviction entered May 8, 2014,
In the Circuit Court for Dane County,
The Honorable Ellen K Berz, Presiding,
In Circuit Court Case Nos. 11-CF-504 & 11-CF-505

THE JEFF SCOTT OLSON LAW FIRM, S.C.

Jeff Scott Olson 131 W. Wilson St., Suite 1200 Madison, Wisconsin 53703

Phone: 608 283 6001 Fax: 608 283 0945

E-mail: jsolson@scofflaw.com

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Did the Wisconsin statute forbidding child abuse, even as limited by the statutory affirmative defense of parental privilege, infringe upon the fundamental right of parents to make decisions about how to raise their children in that it criminalizes spanking that causes even minor pain or bruising?

The circuit court held it did not.

2. Did the Wisconsin statute forbidding child abuse, even as limited by the statutory affirmative defense of parental privilege, infringe upon the sincerely held religious beliefs of the Defendants?

The circuit court held it did not.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is requested by the appellants because of the potential for questions regarding the likely impact of the Court's opinion. Publication will be appropriate because the Court's opinion will provide substantial guidance to circuit courts and the legislature.

#### CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS INVOLVED

The Free Exercise Clause of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution provides: "Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof . . . . " U.S. Const. amend. I.

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides: "No state shall . . . deprive any person of life, liberty, or property,

without due process of law. . . . " U.S. Const. amend. XIV.

Article I, §18 of the Wisconsin Constitution provides: "The right of every person to worship Almighty God according to the dictates of conscience shall never be infringed; ...nor shall any control of, or interference with, the rights of conscience be permitted".

#### **RELEVANT STATUTES**

Wis. Stat. §948.03(2)(b): "Whoever intentionally causes bodily harm to a child is guilty of a Class H felony."

Wis. Stat. §939.22(4): ""Bodily harm" means physical pain or injury, illness, or any impairment of physical condition."

Wis. Stat. §939.45(5): "The fact that an actor's conduct is privileged, although otherwise criminal, is a defense to prosecution for any crime based on that conduct."

Wis. Stat. §939.45(5)(b): [A parent's discipline of a child is privileged] "[w]hen the actor's conduct is reasonable discipline of a child by a person responsible for the child's welfare. Reasonable discipline may involve only such force as a reasonable person believes is necessary. It is never reasonable discipline to use force which is intended to cause great bodily harm or death or creates an unreasonable risk of great bodily harm or death."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following a jury trial that concluded on March 7, 2014, Matt Caminiti was convicted of four counts of intentionally causing bodily harm to the couple's two young children, and his wife, Alina Caminiti was convicted of three counts of intentionally causing bodily harm to their two children, all in violation of Wis. Stat. \$948.03(2)(b), a Class H felony. (A 34-37.) At their May 2, 2014, sentencing hearing, the trial court noted:

The children sustained no permanent disability or disfigurement. At most, they sustained slight bruises that faded after a day or two. The children sustained no emotional scarring that is even perceptible by experts in the field of child abuse, Dane County Department of Human Services. By all accounts, these are happy, healthy, well-adjusted children.

\*\*\*

Matthew's and Alina's punishment of their children was intended with the purpose of raising happy, healthy, well-adjusted children and was done in a very conscious, measured way, even though that way was clearly misguided and dangerous.

(R 135, p 36, 37.)<sup>1</sup> The Court withheld sentence and placed Mr. and Ms. Caminiti on probation for 18 months. (R 135, p 43)

The conduct for which the Caminitis were convicted consisted of spanking their very young children with a wooden spoon or a dowel (hereinafter referred to as "rod spanking"). It was uncontested that the discipline was based on the sincere religious beliefs of the Caminitis. (R 56, p 8; A-9.) The Caminitis are members of an Evangelical church in which one of the tenets of faith is that children should be disciplined with a rod. (R 41, ¶2.)

The basis of this belief is their belief that the words of the Bible are words from God and must be taken literally; this literalism creates an obligation to obey every

he cases again

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The cases against Alina and Matthew were originally brought as separate cases, with separate case number, but were tried together. Identical pretrial motions were brought resulting in identical rulings. The cases have been ordered consolidated on appeal. To avoid confusion, reference is made to the record in Alina's case which is identical in all material respects to the record in Matthew's case but numbered slightly differently.

instruction found in Scripture. (R 41,  $\P\P4$ , 5.) The Caminitis believe that one critical theme found in the Bible is the importance of the family and of instructing the children to love, fear, and obey the Lord. They cite Deuteronomy 6:5-7:

You shall love the Lord your God with all your heart and with all your soul and with all your might. These words, which I am commanding you today, shall be on your heart. You shall teach them diligently to your sons and shall talk of them when you sit in your house and when you walk by the way and when you lie down and when you rise up.

### (R 41, ¶¶ 12, 13.)

They understand Scripture to require that parents take every opportunity to instruct their children according to the needs of the moment, by teaching, explaining, being an example, reproving, or disciplining (Deuteronomy 4:9; Psalm 78:5; Proverbs 3:12; Luke 1:17; Ephesians 6:4). After careful, clear teaching and training has been given to the child, if the child refuses to listen and obey, the Scriptures

instruct parents to use a rod for correction. (R 41,  $\P\P$  15-17.)

In the context of pretrial motions, Matt Caminiti explained the beliefs that he and Alina hold in regard to religion vis-à-vis child discipline:

The Bible is very specific in requiring the use of a rod in disciplining a child. With respect to the word "rod" in Proverbs as it applies to striking a person, Proverbs 26:3 makes it clear that a literal rod is being talked about when it says, *A whip is for the horse, a bridle for the donkey, and a rod for the back of fools.* If whip and bridle are literal, so is rod.

There are [four other] texts that specifically refer to using a rod in the discipline of a child:

- He who spares his rod hates his son, but he who loves him disciplines him diligently. Proverbs 13:24;
- Foolishness is bound up in the heart of a child; the rod of discipline will remove it far from him. Proverbs 22:15;
- Do not hold back discipline from the child, although you strike him with the rod, he will not die. You shall strike him with the rod, and

*deliver his soul from Sheol.* Proverbs 23:13-14;

- The rod and reproof give wisdom, but a child who gets his own way brings shame to his mother. Proverbs 29:15

(R 41, ¶¶ 18-20.)

Matthew Caminiti (who is a graduate of Emmaus Bible College, with a major in Bible Exposition and Theology, and an elder in the church) further explained that their religion teaches that discipline of children is required to begin at an early age:

The Bible also makes it clear that it is necessary for a parent to discipline a child at a young age, early in the child's life. A proverb that speaks to this most clearly is "He who spares his rod hates his son, but he who loves him disciplines him diligently." Proverbs 13:24 (emphasis added). The word "diligently" is translated in the following versions in a manner that indicates that parents are to discipline their children early on. As such, this proverb is teaching that parents who spare the rod until too late in life hate their sons.

- English Standard Version: "Whoever spares the rod hates his son, but he who loves him is diligent to discipline him." Note, Or who loves him disciplines him <u>early</u> (emphasis added).

- The NET Bible: "The one who spares his rod hates his child, but the one who loves his child is diligent in disciplining him." Note 85 indicates that the Hebrew word [for 'diligent'] can mean "to do something early" such that the verse could mean "to be early or prompt in disciplining."
- King James Bible (Cambridge Edition): "He that spareth his rod hateth his son: but he that loveth him chasteneth him <u>betimes</u>." The word betimes means "soon, in good time, early."
- God's Word Translation (1995): "Whoever refuses to spank his son hates him, but whoever loves his son disciplines him from early on."
- King James 2000 Bible: "He that spares his rod hates his son: but he that loves him chastens him early."
- American King James Version: "He that spares his rod hates his son: but he that loves him chastens him betimes."
- American Standard Version: "He that spareth his rod hateth his son; but he that loveth him chasteneth him betimes."
- Douay-Rheims Bible: "He that spareth the

rod hateth his son: but he that loveth him correcteth him betimes."

- Darby Bible Translation: "He that spareth his rod hateth his son; but he that loveth him chasteneth him betimes."
- English Revised Version: "He that spareth his rod hateth his son; but he that loveth him chasteneth him betimes."
- Webster's Bible Translation: "He that spareth his rod hateth his son; but he that loveth him chasteneth him betimes."

... Gill's Exposition of the Entire Bible ... explains that "chasteneth him betimes" means "chastening him in the morning of his infancy."

(R 41,¶¶ 3, 21-24.)

Matt explained that, for example, where Proverbs

19:18 says, "Discipline your son while there is hope, and do not desire his death," they understand that to mean that a child can become set and hardened in his foolish and selfish ways, so it is essential to take advantage of every

opportunity to offset this by beginning training early. He points to *Barnes' Notes on the Bible* which says, "While there is hope – While is still young, and capable of being reformed," and *Gill's Exposition of the Entire Bible* which says that chastening of the child needs to happen "while in a state of infancy, childhood, and youth." (R 41,¶¶ 24-29.)

He also noted that Proverbs 22:6 says, "Train up a child in the way he should go, even when he is old he will not depart from it." The Caminitis understand this Biblical teaching to mean that as early as a parent recognizes a child asserting a contrary disposition, he or she should take whatever training action he sees as reasonable and necessary to turn him from that path. (R 41,¶¶ 30-33.)

Another example Matt gave was Proverbs 22:15, which says "Foolishness is bound up in the heart of a child; the

rod of discipline will remove it far from him." The Caminitis understand this passage of the Bible to mean that foolishness is fixed, fastened tight, in the depths of a child's being, and so, as soon as a parent sees foolishness expressed, at whatever age, he or she deals with it reasonably, but surely. Foolishness is not to be taken lightly. As support for this understanding, he cited to *Gill's Exposition of the Entire Bible* which says that foolishness "is naturally in the heart of man; it is in the heart of a child, it is in him from his infancy." (R 41,¶34-36.)

The unrebutted evidence was that the Caminitis' religious belief imposes an absolute duty on them as parents to raise their children to love, know, fear, and obey God, and that they sincerely believe that this duty can only be implemented by a program of teaching and

discipline that includes spanking their children with a rod when the occasion calls for it. (R 41,¶¶ 37, 38.) Because of their belief that the Bible is literally the Word of God, they cannot ignore the places in Scripture where the word "rod" is used in connection with child discipline by imposing an alternative metaphorical meaning upon the word. (R 41, $\P$  39.) They believe that if they were to do so, it would place them at odds with the Scriptures that instruct to accept the binding authority of all of Scripture. (Joshua 1:7,8; Psalm 119:6,13,86,128, 151,160,172; Proverbs 30:5,6; Matthew 4:4; 5:18; Luke 16:17,31; John 10:35; 2Timothy 3:16). (R 41,¶ 40.)

Obedience to civil authority is also a requirement of the Caminitis' religion. Romans 13:1-7 teaches them that "every person is to be in subjection to governing authorities." (R 41, $\P$  44.) Thus they find themselves on the

horns of a dilemma, in that their religion requires that they follow both civil law and the teachings of the Bible, and the Bible requires them to teach their children, and in part, that teaching requires the use of the rod at an early age. To the extent that application of the Wisconsin child abuse law does not permit them to discipline their children in that manner, that prohibition places them in direct conflict with their religious beliefs. (R 41,¶¶ 45, 46.)

To the extent that Wisconsin law does not permit them to include rod spanking of their young children as part of their upbringing, then in obeying that law, they are disobeying the Scriptures. (R 41, ¶¶ 41, 46.) To forego rod spanking means that they will have failed in their responsibility to raise their children in the way that they need to be raised, and according to Proverbs 23:14, their children will be spiritually dead. (R 41,¶ 43.) In the

religion of which the Caminitis are adherents, spiritual death is the worst possible consequence imaginable – it is separation from God. (R 41,  $\P$  11.)

The Defendants brought pretrial motions asserting that the application of the child abuse statute violated their right to freedom of religion protected by the First Amendment to the United States Constitution and freedom of conscience, protected by Article One, Section 18 of the Wisconsin Constitution. (R 26, 33.) They also asserted that the application of the statute impermissibly infringed upon their fundamental right to parent, in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. (R 45.) Both motions were denied.<sup>2</sup>

The Court ruled that the Defendants did have a sincerely held religious belief, but that belief was not

<sup>2</sup> The Defendants also challenged the statute as unconstitutionally vague. That motion was denied; its denial is not challenged on appeal.

15

burdened by the prosecution under the child abuse statute when considered in conjunction with the statutory reasonable discipline affirmative defense. (R 56, p 8; A-9.) The court also found that the state has a compelling interest in protecting children, and that interest could not be met by a less restrictive statute. (R 56, p 9; A-10.) The court denied the motion to dismiss based upon the deprivation of the liberty interest in raising a family by reference to its denial of the motion to dismiss based on infringement on religion. (R 56, p 10; A-11.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. The Standard of Review and Burden of Proof.

The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law that the Court of Appeals reviews independently, while "benefitting from the analyses of the circuit court." *League* 

of Women Voters of Wisconsin Educ. Network, Inc. v. Walker, 2014 WI 97, ¶ 14, 357 Wis. 2d 360, 369, 851 N.W.2d 302, 307.

As to the claim based on freedom of religion/conscience, the Court should apply the compelling state interest/least restrictive alternative test to its review. Under this analysis:

the challenger carries the burden to prove: (1) that he or she has a sincerely held religious belief, (2) that is burdened by application of the state law at issue. Upon such proof, the burden shifts to the State to prove: (3) that the law is based on a compelling state interest, (4) which cannot be served by a less restrictive alternative.

State v. Miller, 202 Wis.2d 56, 66, 549 N.W.2d 235 (1996). In articulating this standard, the Miller Court noted that freedom of conscience receives higher protection under the Wisconsin Constitution than does freedom of religion under the U.S. constitution, and, while noting that the U.S. Supreme Court has abandoned the use of the compelling state interest test where laws of general applicability

burden religious freedom, it concluded that "the guarantees of our state constitution will best be furthered through continued use of the compelling interest/least restrictive alternative analysis of free conscience claims and [we] see no need to depart from this time-tested standard." *Miller*, 202 Wis.2d 66, 549 N.W.2d 235.<sup>3</sup>

Because the trial court found the Caminitis religious belief was not burdened by application of the child abuse statute, it did not require the State to prove that the compelling state interest of preventing harm to

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> However, the compelling interest test is still used in some federal analyses, as the Religious Freedom Restoration Act of 1993 (RFRA) prohibits the "Government [from] substantially burden[ing] a person's exercise of religion even if the burden results from a rule of general applicability" unless the Government "demonstrates that application of the burden to the person—(1) is in furtherance of a compelling governmental interest; and (2) is the least restrictive means of furthering that compelling governmental interest." 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000bb–1(a), (b). As amended by the Religious Land Use and Institutionalized Persons Act of 2000, RFRA covers "any exercise of religion, whether or not compelled by, or central to, a system of religious belief." § 2000cc–5(7)(A).

children could not be accomplished with a less restrictive statute. Nonetheless, it found:

The compelling state interest in the physical protection and welfare of children cannot be served by less restrictive alternatives. The intent element and the affirmative defense of reasonable parental discipline amply served to limit the bounds of the government's reach.

(R 56, p 10; A-11.) Defendants assign this as error for reasons that are discussed below, among them, a failure to require the State to meet its burden.

As to the challenge based on the liberty interest in making parenting decisions, where state legislation or action taken under color of state law infringes upon a liberty interest deemed fundamental under the Fourteenth Amendment, it is "presumptively unconstitutional."

Harris v. McRae, 448 U.S. 297 (1980). Where legislation impinges upon these fundamental aspects of liberty (including the right to marry, to bear children, to direct the education and upbringing of one's children, to use

contraception, and to maintain bodily integrity), the government must justify such infringement by using the traditional strict scrutiny standard. *County of Sacramento v. Lewis*, 523 U.S. 833, 846–47 (1998). This requires that the government show that the infringing statute is designed to address a compelling government objective and is drafted as narrowly as possible to achieve that objective. *Id*.

Wisconsin case law concurs that this is the proper test: "[W]here the statutory scheme impinges upon a fundamental liberty, [courts] will not invalidate it on substantive due process grounds [if] it is narrowly tailored to a compelling government interest." *State v. Olson*, 2006 WI App 32, ¶ 4, 290 Wis.2d 202, 712 N.W.2d 61.

The trial court did not articulate what elements of proof it used when it considered the Defendants' challenge based on the infringement of their liberty

interest in parenting. Although, in presenting their motion to dismiss, the Defendants proffered several examples of child abuse statutes that serve the same state interest of protecting children from injury while not intruding upon parental decisions, neither the State nor the court explained why these less restrictive alternatives were not viable for Wisconsin, and thus failed to adhere to the proper method of analysis.

II. Parents Have a Fundamental Liberty
Interest in Directing the Upbringing
of Their Children Which is Protected
by the Substantive Due Process
Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

The United States Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized that the relationship between parent and child is constitutionally protected. See, e.g., *Quilloin v. Walcott*, 434 U.S. 246, 255 (1978); *Wisconsin v. Yoder*, 406 U.S. 205, 231-233 (1972); *Stanley v. Illinois*, 405 U.S. 645, 651 (1972); *Meyer v. Nebraska*, 262 U.S. 390, 399-401 (1923). The Court

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