# RECEIVED

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-22-2015

#### COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT IV

Case Nos. 2015AP122-CR & 2015AP123-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ALINA CAMINITI and MATTHEW CAMINITI,

Defendants-Appellants.

#### ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE ELLEN K. BERZ PRESIDING

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MAURA FJ WHELAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1027974

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

# I. The Caminitis' substantive due process right to discipline their children is not abridged by the child abuse and reasonable discipline statutes.<sup>2</sup>

#### A. Legal principles.

Parents have a broad liberty interest "in the care, custody, and control of their children." Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 65 (2000) (plurality opinion); see also id. at 66 (collecting cases); State v. Neumann, 2013 WI 58, ¶13, 348 Wis. 2d 455, 832 N.W.2d 560. Subsumed within that broad interest is a narrower interest in child discipline. See Doe v. Heck, 327 F.3d 492, 522 (7th Cir. 2003); Hamilton ex rel Lethem v. Lethem, 270 P.3d 1024, 1026 (Haw. 2012); State v. Wilder, 748 A.2d 444, 449 (Me. 2000). These interests are generally understood to inhere in the Substantive Due Process Clause. See, e.g., Doe, 327 F.3d at 517-19.

"[A] parent's fundamental right to make decisions concerning his or her child is not unlimited." *Neumann*, 348 Wis. 2d 455, ¶113. "Indeed, this liberty interest in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Part I of the State's Argument corresponds to parts II-IV of the Caminitis' Argument. Part V of the Caminitis' Argument is a cursory argument (with no legal citations) that their parental rights are protected by the First Amendment as well as the Due Process Clause. Caminitis' Brief at 40-41. The State will not separately address this argument and this Court need not consider it. See State v. Pettit, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) ("We may decline to review issues inadequately briefed."); id. ("Arguments unsupported by references to legal authority will not be considered.").

familial integrity is limited by the compelling governmental interest in the protection of children—particularly where the children need to be protected from their own parents." *Croft v. Westmoreland Cnty.*, 103 F.3d 1123, 1125 (3d Cir. 1997). Thus, it is within the State's constitutional power to enforce criminal child abuse statutes against parents. *See Doe*, 327 F.3d at 520; *Wilder*, 748 A.2d at 449; *Keser v. State*, 706 P.2d 263, 267-68 (Wyo. 1985) (collecting cases); *see also Sweaney v. Ada Cnty.*, 119 F.3d 1385, 1391 (9th Cir. 1997) (no "unlimited [constitutional] right to inflict corporal punishment on [one's] children").

A court reviewing a defendant's claim that a state's criminal child abuse statute impinges on his fundamental rights as a parent must "balance . . . the fundamental right to the family unit and the state's interest in protecting children from abuse." Brokaw Mercer υ. Cntv..235 F.3d 1000, 1019 (7th Cir. 2000); accord Croft, 103 F.3d at 1125. "[S]tandards designed to regulate" the "delicate complex" and parent-child relationship "must necessarily provide some flexibility while at the same time effectuating the state policy of protecting children from abuse." Keser, 706 P.2d at 267 (citation omitted).

A statutory scheme that both allows parents to be prosecuted for child abuse and provides them with a reasonable discipline privilege strikes an appropriate balance between parents' liberty interests and the State's police power interest. *See Brokaw*, 235 F.3d at 1019; Lethem, 270 P.3d at 1035-36; Keser, 706 P.2d at 268-70. Wisconsin has adopted just such a statutory scheme. See State v. Kimberly B., 2005 WI App 115, ¶¶ 29-30, 283 Wis. 2d 731, 699 N.W.2d 641.

In Wisconsin, physical abuse of a child is punishable as a felony under Wis. Stat. § 948.03. Parents who physically abuse their children are subject to prosecution under the statute. See, e.g., State v. Williams, 2006 WI App 212, ¶¶ 2-6, 296 Wis. 2d 834, 723 N.W.2d 719, 723-25. The subsection applicable in this case required the State to prove that, as to each act charged, the parent "intentionally caus[ed] bodily harm to a child." Wis. Stat. § 948.03(2)(b). As defined by the Wisconsin statutes, "bodily harm" includes "physical pain," as well as "injury, illness, or any impairment of physical condition." Wis. Stat. § 939.22(4).

Wisconsin provides a statutory "reasonable discipline" privilege for a parent's corporal punishment of a child. The privilege defense can be claimed:

When the actor's conduct is reasonable discipline of a child by a person responsible for the child's welfare. Reasonable discipline may involve only such force as a reasonable person believes is necessary....

Wis. Stat. § 939.45(5)(b).

The burden is on the State to "disprove the parental privilege defense beyond a reasonable doubt." *Kimberly B.*, 283 Wis. 2d 731, ¶ 29. It must prove either (1) that the use of force was not reasonably necessary, or (2) that the amount

and nature of the force used was unreasonable. Id.  $\P$  30. The privilege analysis is multi-factored and contextdependent.

> There is no inflexible rule that defines what, under all circumstances, is unreasonable or excessive corporal punishment. Rather, the accepted degree of force must vary according to the age, sex, physical and mental condition and disposition of the child, the conduct of the child, the nature of the discipline, and all the surrounding circumstances.

Id. ¶ 33 (citation omitted). Whether the privilege absolves a parent of liability in a given case is a question for the jury. See id. ¶ 37.

Wisconsin statutes are presumed to be constitutional. A party challenging a statute on constitutional grounds must prove its unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Luedtke, 2015 WI 42, ¶ 75, 362 Wis. 2d 1, 863 N.W.2d 592. As noted above, a law impinging on the parental right of discipline must balance "the fundamental liberty interests of the family unit with the compelling interests of the state in protecting children from abuse." Croft, 103 F.3d at 1125; accord Doe, 327 F.3d at 518-20; Brokaw, 235 F.3d at 1019. A statute that achieves that balance will survive a constitutional challenge.

The Caminitis assert that the child abuse statute is subject to strict scrutiny because it interferes with their parental rights. Caminitis' Brief at 19-20. The State knows of no published judicial authority applying strict scrutiny to a child abuse statute under these circumstances. None of the cases cited by the Caminitis support this proposition. See Caminitis' Brief at 19-31.

Whether a statute is constitutional is a question of law subject to this Court's de novo review. See In re Gwenevere T., 2011 WI 30, ¶16, 333 Wis. 2d 273, 797 N.W.2d 854.

#### B. Analysis.

1. Wisconsin's child abuse and reasonable discipline statutes are constitutional because they balance the parents' right to discipline their children with the State's interest in protecting the children from abuse.

Wisconsin's child abuse statute, as tempered by the reasonable discipline privilege, comports with substantive due process requirements. It balances the parental right of discipline with the State's interest in protecting children from abuse. See Croft, 103 F.3d at 1126. Section 948.03(2)(b) prohibits the intentional infliction of bodily harm, including pain and injury, on a child, and thereby advances the State's interest in protecting children. Section 939.45(5)(b) allows a parent to discipline her child as long as it is reasonable, involving "only such force as a reasonable person believes is necessary," and thereby advances the parent's liberty interest in controlling her children. The statute thus survives constitutional scrutiny.

In this case, the State proved that the Caminitis intentionally inflicted bodily harm on their children, as revealed by their own statements that the children experienced bruising after they were spanked with wooden spoons or dowels. The State also disproved the reasonable discipline privilege beyond a reasonable doubt. It showed that the Caminitis' use of rod discipline on their daughter (as an infant and young toddler) and their infant son because they were "disobedient," "angry," "not listening," "not being quiet," "crying," or "being selfish," was not reasonably necessary and that the amount and nature of the force used was unreasonable (R. 131:228; 132:52, 53, 175, 179, 238). The State's factual evidence was buttressed-by the testimony of the experts, who explained that the use of rod discipline on such young children was ineffective and counterproductive.

For these reasons, this Court should reject the Caminitis' claim that their prosecution under the child abuse statute violates their fundamental right to discipline their children.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In State v. Philip Caminiti, No. 2013AP730-CR, unpublished slip op. (WI App Mar. 20, 2014), this Court held that the "reasonable discipline privilege strikes a balance between parents' constitutional rights to the care and control of their children and the State's interest in preventing child abuse," thus passing the applicable balancing test used in *Doe v. Heck. See Caminiti*, unpublished slip op., ¶ 37. As an authored but unpublished court of appeals opinion, *Caminiti* "may be cited for its persuasive value." Wis. Stat. § 809.23(2)(b). The State attaches a copy of the opinion in the appendix to this brief (P-R App. 001-026). See Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3). The defendant in the cited case, Philip Caminiti, is the father of Matthew Caminiti and the head elder of the Aleitheia Bible Church. *Caminiti*, unpublished slip op., ¶ 9. Philip Caminiti was convicted of

# 2. The Caminitis' arguments are unavailing.

The Caminitis assert that any governmental restriction on their parental right to discipline their children is subject to strict scrutiny review. Thus, they do not address the balancing test of *Doe*, *Brokaw*, and *Croft* in their brief.

The Caminitis' argument is as follows: In part II., they argue that the parent-child relationship is constitutionally protected under the Substantive Due Process Clause, which the State concedes. In part III., after citing additional case law supporting the previous uncontested proposition, they argue that the constitutional liberty interest includes the right to discipline their children. In part IV., they argue that the circuit court failed to analyze and the State failed to prove that there are no less restrictive alternatives to Wisconsin's chosen approach to protecting children from physical abuse by their parents.

It is important to note that the Caminitis' parental rights challenge to Wisconsin law is not an as-applied challenge. Their theory is that the law is unconstitutional on its face. See Caminitis' Brief at 30, 35-39. Here the law in question is really a combination of three statutes and a court decision: Wis. Stat. § 948.03 (the child abuse statute); § 939.22(4) (the definition of bodily harm); § 939.45(5)(b) (the reasonable discipline privilege); and Kimberly B.

eight counts of conspiracy to commit child abuse based on the use of rod discipline by Aleitheia's adherents. *Id.*  $\P$  1.

(the multi-factored reasonable discipline test). As the State understands their brief, the Caminitis are challenging all four components of the law as they come together in a discipline-based child abuse prosecution.

The scope of the Caminitis' challenge has two important implications for this Court's review. First, as mentioned above, because Wisconsin statutes are presumed to be constitutional, the Caminitis bear the burden of proving that one or more parts of the statutory scheme is unconstitutional. See Luedtke, 362 Wis. 2d<sup>-1</sup>, ¶ 75. Second, this Court does not have the authority to overrule *Kimberly B. See Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997). Only the Wisconsin Supreme Court can do that.

> a. The cases cited by the Caminitis in part III. do not support their conclusion that parents may determine, without state interference, what discipline is reasonable.

In part III. of their argument, the Caminitis enlist a host of cases to support their position that a parent's liberty interest in her child's upbringing includes the right to use reasonable corporal punishment as discipline. The State agrees with this general proposition. However, the Caminitis' analysis implies that the parent gets to decide what punishment is reasonable without interference from the State. The cited case law does not support that conclusion. Moreover, the Caminitis' discussion of the cases in this section is frequently misleading. Many of the cases cited are irrelevant, inapposite, or mischaracterized by the Caminitis.

The Caminitis cite Ingraham v. Wright, 430 U.S. 651 (1977), twice. First, they use it to support the point that a parent may be unable to care for or control "an unruly child without the ability to impose discipline." Caminitis' Brief at 24. Second, they cite it to support the assertion that "[t]he Supreme Court has recognized historical and contemporary approval of reasonable corporal punishment in public schools." Id. at 26.

Ingraham says nothing about a parent's right to discipline his children. On the contrary, the plaintiffs in Ingraham were public school pupils and their parents who sued their school under the federal civil rights statutes after the children suffered injuries from being spanked with a wooden paddle. 430 U.S. at 653 n.1. The plaintiffs raised two legal theories, both of which the Court rejected. They argued that the punishment violated their Eighth Amendment right to be free from cruel and unusual punishment; the Court held that the Eighth Amendment does not apply to non-criminal school-based punishments. Id. at 670. The plaintiffs argued that they were not afforded procedural due process; the Court held that they were. Id. at 672. The Court explained that advance procedural safeguards were unnecessary because state law provides civil and

criminal remedies to a pupil subjected to severe or excessive discipline. *Id.* at 677-78. These holdings do not support the Caminitis' contention that the State may not impose criminal sanctions on parents who subject their children to unreasonable physical punishment in the name of discipline.

The Caminitis note correctly that the *Ingraham* court acknowledged the historical and contemporary approval of corporal punishment in schools.<sup>4</sup> They fail to note the Court's discussion about which branch of government has the authority to decide whether to permit or limit such punishment. "Elimination or curtailment of corporal punishment would be welcomed by many as a societal advance. But when such a policy choice may result from this Court's determination of an asserted right to due process, rather than from the normal processes of community debate and legislative action, the societal costs cannot be dismissed as insubstantial." Id. at 681. In other words, at least when it's performed in the classroom, the legislature, not the courts, should decide whether physical discipline of children is allowed.

The Caminitis also ignore the Court's historical observation that "a single principle has governed the use of corporal punishment since before the American Revolution:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Whether the statutory approval of school-based corporal discipline is as widespread as it was when *Ingraham* was decided nearly forty years ago is unknown. However, Wisconsin's position on the question is clear: corporal punishment in public schools is prohibited unless sanctioned by a specific statutory exception. *See* Wis. Stat. § 118.31.

Teachers may impose reasonable but not excessive force to discipline a child." Id. at 661 (emphasis added). Citing a leading torts casebook and the *Restatement (Second) of* Torts, the Court summarized the factors that determine whether a teacher's corporal punishment of a pupil is reasonable:

All of the circumstances are to be taken into account in determining whether the punishment is reasonable in a particular case. Among the most important considerations are the seriousness of the offense, the attitude and past behavior of the child, the nature and severity of the punishment, the age and strength of the child, and the availability of less severe but equally effective means of discipline.

Ingraham, 430 U.S. at 662. The Ingraham factors are much like the factors identified by this Court to determine whether Wisconsin's reasonable discipline privilege applies in a particular case. See Kimberly B., 283 Wis. 2d 731, ¶ 33. Ingraham is fully consistent with Kimberly B.

The Caminitis misleadingly tilt *Ingraham* towards their own position when they write that the "Court found that the child's interest in personal security or the child's right to be free from unjustified intrusions did not outweigh the need for maintaining discipline." Caminitis' Brief at 27 (citing *Ingraham*, 430 U.S. at 676). In fact, the Court wrote:

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